IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE STATE OF FLORIDA, and the  
several Property Owners,  
Taxpayers and Citizens of the  
City of Orlando, Florida,  
including nonresidents owning  
property or subject to taxation  
therein, and all others having  
or claiming any right, title or  
interest in property to be  
affected by the issuance of the  
bonds herein more particularly  
described or to be affected in  
any way thereby,

Defendant/Appellant,

CASE NO. 75,804

vs.

Appeal from Case No. CI88-8819

City of Orlando, Florida, a  
municipal corporation of the  
State of Florida,

Plaintiff/Appellee.

---

ON APPEAL FROM THE  
CIRCUIT COURT  
OF ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

---

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal pursuant to Rule 9.030(a)(1)(B)(i) of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure from a final Order issued pursuant to Chapter 75, Florida Statutes, validating bonds.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a Final Judgment of the Circuit Court of the Ninth Judicial Circuit in and for Orange County validating not to exceed \$500,000,000 City of Orlando, Florida, Revenue Bonds.

The City of Orlando, "The City" filed an Amended Complaint pursuant to Chapter 75, Florida Statutes, seeking validation of not to exceed \$500,000,000 Revenue Bonds. The City served a Fourth Amended Order to Show Cause on the State of Florida requiring the State of Florida, through the State Attorney of the Ninth Judicial Circuit, to show cause why the prayer of said Complaint should not be granted and the bonds validated. Pursuant to Chapter 75, Lawson Lamar, State Attorney, answered and appeared at the trial through his Assistant State Attorneys, raising several issues as to why validation should not be granted. The Complaint was heard by Judge Joseph P. Baker, Circuit Court Judge of the Ninth Judicial Circuit in and for Orange County on June 12, 1989. On March 1, 1990, Judge Baker entered a Final Judgment validating the bonds. The State filed a timely Notice of Appeal on March 30, 1990.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On October 31, 1988, and January 9, 1989, the City of Orlando "the City" adopted resolutions providing for the issuance of not exceeding \$500,000,000 Revenue Bonds (App.1). The City filed an Amended Complaint seeking validation of the bonds, the proceedings related thereto and the revenues pledged for the repayment thereof (App.2). In the Amended Complaint, the City states the bonds will provide funds to finance an insurance pool and qualifying projects of local agencies, by making loans from the proceeds through execution of a Local Agency Loan Agreement or through the purchase of Local Agency Securities (App.2 p.2). Neither the City Resolutions nor the Amended Complaint identified the projects to be financed, the local agencies involved, the revenue sources, or the public purpose behind such bond proposal.

Thus, the State of Florida, "The State" filed an answer raising these issues (App.3). A private citizen, William E. Hall, intervened raising identical issues (App.4). On March 15, 1989, the State took the City's Director of Finance, George Michael Miller's deposition in an attempt to find out exactly what projects the bond proceeds would finance, their eventual location and the revenues pledged to secure repayment (App.5). Although Mr. Miller states the City had an immediate need to borrow money for a number of projects, Mr. Miller would not identify any specific project to be funded, source of payment or potential local agency which would receive the benefit of the funds (App.5 pp.58-59,65,73). According to Mr. Miller, the City is not attempting to validate any underlying loan or underlying



security but is attempting to validate a financing vehicle (App.5 pp.58-59).

As first submitted, the bond proposal would allow the bonds to be issued and reinvested for profit without any requirement that they ever be used for a project and if so, that the project is located in the City of Orlando (App.8 pp.79,80). Because the bonds could be issued as taxable bonds, there were initially no restrictions on the time the City could use the funds for strictly investment purposes (App.8 pp.70-72).

The bond proposal also allowed the City to issue the bonds and loan all of the proceeds to governmental units by entering into Local Agency Loan Agreements (App.6). If the bonds are issued for this purpose, they would be secured by the funds pledged by the local agency (App.6) (App.8, pp.33-34). Since no local agency is identified, the source of funds for repayment can not be identified. According to the Trust Indenture (App.7) and proposed Local Agency Loan Agreement (App.6) the local agency can pledge funds derived from ad valorem taxes to repay the loan and thus the bonds. The applicable provision of the Trust Indenture reads as follows: "The Bonds and the Issuer's other obligations hereunder are solely and exclusively special and limited obligations of the Issuer and do not constitute or create an obligation, general or special, or debt, liability or moral obligation of the State or any political subdivision of the State (other than the Issuer to the extent provided herein and the Governmental units to the extent provided in their respective Loan Agreements)" (App.7, pp.48).

The City of Orlando could also use the bond proceeds for its own purposes. To do this the City must enter into a contract, a local agency loan agreement, with itself (App.6) (App.8 p.76).

Moreover, the bond proposal initially allowed the City to issue the bonds for the purpose of purchasing local government securities (App.8 pp.46). The Trust Indenture, however, would allow the purchase of any investment securities authorized by law at the discretion of the issuer (App.7 pp. 9, 78) (App.8 pp.74-75, 80-81).

Lastly, the City stated the bond proceeds could be used to fund an insurance pool (App.2) (App.12).

At the trial of this cause, the City reiterated its request for validation of the bonds and introduced a project type list (App.10). Although the City presented little concrete evidence as to how the financing proposal would operate, who would participate or realistically how much profit the City intended to earn and for what purpose, the City's representative stated that the advantage of this financing proposal is that it reduces the costs of borrowing, allows governments to access otherwise unattainable markets and to reach economies of scale (App.8 pp.24,47,80).

At the conclusion of the hearing counsel for both sides submitted memoranda in support of its position (App.9) and the City submitted a proposed Final Judgment (App.11).

On March 1, 1990 Judge Joseph P. Baker signed a Final Judgment with numerous changes to the original proposal (App. 12). The Final Judgment as entered granted the relief

requested but placed some restrictions on the bond proposal (App.12). The Final Judgment as entered, restricts the City from issuing bonds unless the City of Orlando Council by resolution reasonably expects the bond proceeds to be used to either purchase Local Agency Securities, or to make loans pursuant to a Local Agency Loan Agreement to finance the costs of qualifying projects. A qualifying project must be of the type listed on the project list, which includes a broad range of capital projects as well as any others subsequently approved by state statute (App.10) (App. 12, pp.3,11).

According to the Final Judgment the bonds must be used within three years of the date of issuance to make loans, purchase local agency securities or redeem bonds (App.12, pp. 11). The Final Judgment as altered requires the City Council of the City of Orlando and the Local Agency to approve through its governing body the Local Agency Loan Agreement before the bond proceeds may be used to purchase Local Agency Securities or to make loans through the execution of Local Agency Loan Agreements (App.12,11). Further, the City may not loan money to a local agency or purchase a local agency security under the Final Judgment which pledge ad valorem taxes, unless the Local Agency first obtains approval of their voters pursuant to Article VII, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution (App.12,13).

The Final Judgment as entered by the Court on March 1, 1990 states it is not intended to collaterally estop any person from challenging in a collateral proceeding the specific projects, the validity of a Local Agency Loan Agreement or Security, or the

revenues pledged for the payment of such Local Agency Loan Agreement or Security (App.12, p.14).

The Final Judgment as entered, however, still does not identify any specific projects, a local agency or the particular revenues, which would secure the bonds if issued for City of Orlando purposes, or the particular revenues to secure repayment of the Local Agency Loan Agreement, if the funds are loaned out to other entities.

In spite of this, Paragraph 7 of the Final Judgment reads:

The Plaintiff determined pursuant to the Bond Resolution that the public interest will best be served by the issuance of revenue bonds in order to provide funds to the Plaintiff to be made available to the participating Local Agencies, including the Plaintiff, to finance, refinance or reimburse the cost of qualifying projects pursuant to Local Agency Securities issued by Local Agencies or Local Agency Loan Agreements between the respective Local Agencies and the Issuer. The issuance of the Bonds by the Plaintiff for such purposes serves a valid public purpose of the Plaintiff.

(App. 12, p.4)

On March 8, 1990, Judge Baker made public a Memorandum of Ruling in support of the court's decision in entering the Final Judgment of Validation (App.13). Citing the Florida Taxable Bond Act, Chapter 159, Part VII, Florida Statutes, the City's Municipal Home Rule Powers under Chapter 166, Florida Statutes and Article VIII, Section 2(b), Florida Constitution, Judge Baker declared the City is authorized to issue "taxable bonds to be

used solely to raise money to acquire investments" (App.13,11). Stating that the bonds in question could not be assessed in terms of public purpose, the Court analogized the bonds to "municipal credit cards" and questioned whether the "municipal purpose" of the bond issue might become something demonstrated by using mirrors and that the value, viability and validity of such should be determined by the securities markets and not by the courts (App.13, pp.11-12).

Judge Baker's Memorandum of Ruling goes on and states:

This bond issue cannot be assessed in terms of 'public purpose', as that concept has evolved . . .

The chief financial officer of the city testified that the employment of this bond issue required such sophistication it could not be understood by counsel for the state and taxpayer defendant, which makes one wonder whether it might be beyond one or more individual city council persons . . . . The possibility of misuse of power cannot be a legal bar . . . .

(App.13, pp.11-12)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The City of Orlando is seeking to validate up to one half billion dollars of revenue bonds to be used as a "financing tool." In essence, the City wants to have access to \$500,000,000 dollars so it can do one or all of the following:

- (1) Invest the proceeds for profit
- (2) Loan the proceeds to other governmental units, by executing a Local Agency Loan Agreement.
- (3) purchase local agency securities
- (4) use the bond proceeds for undetermined City of Orlando purposes
- (5) finance an insurance pool

The City, however, has not identified with any particularity:

- (1) what percentage of the bonds it intends to use for any of these purposes
- (2) the amount, or realistic profit the City anticipates to earn from either investing or loaning out the bond proceeds
- (3) the local agencies
- (4) the local agency securities
- (5) the projects
- (6) the revenues to secure repayment of the bonds and/or the local agency loan agreements or securities

In addition to these uncertainties, the City has left open to collateral attack the validity of the local agency loan agreements, the local agency securities, the revenues pledged for payment of the Local Agency Agreements or Securities, and the specific projects.

Section 75.02, Florida Statutes gives the Courts jurisdiction to determine whether a city has authority to incur bonded debt and the legality of all proceedings taken in connection therewith. Once entered, however, a judgment of validation is forever conclusive as to all matters determined therein. This Court does not have jurisdiction to validate a bond proposal which on one hand does not identify any of the above elements and on the other leaves many of the issues open to subsequent challenge. The Court cannot determine whether a debt will even be incurred or whether all matters taken or in connection with the bond proposal are authorized by law. Since the City has failed to identify so many variables to the bond transaction, the case is not at issue or ripe for determination under Chapter 75, Florida Statutes leaving this Court without jurisdiction to confer validation.

Even if the Court finds jurisdiction, the bond proposal fails to serve a proper public purpose and is not authorized by law. Investing bond proceeds for profit in an unidentified manner for a period of years before using all or a portion of the bond proceeds to fund undetermined projects in undetermined local agencies or to purchase unidentified local agency securities does not serve a valid public purpose. The Florida Constitution,

statutes and case law do not authorize the particular transaction in question.

The City's proposal also violates Article 7, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution and Section 75.03, Florida Statutes. One of the stated purposes for the bonds is to finance loans to local agencies. These local agencies will enter into a Local Agency Loan Agreement with the City of Orlando and these loans will also secure repayment of the bonds. The local agency, however, may pledge revenues derived from ad valorem taxation for repayment of the loan and thus, the bonds. Therefore, the City's Revenue Bonds may violate Article 7, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution by pledging ad valorem taxation without an election as well as Section 75.03, Florida Statutes which requires the election to be held prior to the validation proceeding.

Furthermore, the Revenue Bonds in question violate simple contract principles. If the City intends to use the proceeds for its own purposes, the City must enter into a Local Agency Loan Agreement with itself. There is no mechanism in the documents which would allow the City to use the funds for its own purposes.

Lastly, the City of Orlando's Revenue Bonds violate the due process of future citizens and borrowers. Chapter 75 and Chapter 163, Part I, Florida Statutes clearly intended that those affected by a bond validation case would be notified of the proceedings. By not identifying a local agency or giving notice to the county or the State Attorney for that circuit which will eventually borrow the proceeds, citizens of that local agency and/or circuit are precluded from raising any objection to



validation of the bonds as a "financing tool" and are being denied due process of law.

POINT I

THE SUPREME COURT AND CIRCUIT COURT  
ARE WITHOUT JURISDICTION TO  
VALIDATE THE CITY OF ORLANDO,  
FLORIDA \$500,000,000 REVENUE BONDS.

The City of Orlando filed an Amended Complaint seeking validation of \$500,000,000 City of Orlando "Revenue Bonds" (App.2, pp.5). The City's proposal, however, did not and still does not identify any specific projects to be financed, the revenue sources or the local agency to receive the benefit of the bond proceeds. Nevertheless, the City in its Amended Complaint sought to validate the bonds, "the proceedings related thereto and the revenue pledged for the repayment thereof" (App.2, pp.5).

For these reasons, the State objected to the bonds in question in its answer (App.3), at trial (App.8), and in the memoranda filed in opposition to validation (App.9). A circuit court derives jurisdiction to hear a bond validation case from Section 75.02, Florida Statutes:

Any county, municipality, taxing district or other political district or subdivision of this state, . . . authorized by law to issue bonds, may determine its authority to incur bonded debt or issue certificates of debt and the legality of all proceedings in connection therewith, including assesment of taxes levied or to be levied, the lien thereof and proceedings or other remedies for their collection. For this purpose a complaint shall be filed in the circuit court in the county or in the county where the municipality or district, or any part thereof, is located . . .

(emphasis added).

Validation, however, is intended to conclusively resolve all issues as to the ability to incur bonded debt and the legality of all proceedings taken in connection therewith.

Section 75.09, Florida Statutes states in pertinent part:

If the judgment validates such bonds . . . and any taxes, assessments or revenues affected, and no appeal is taken . . ., or if taken and the judgment is affirmed, such judgment is forever conclusive as to all matters adjudicated against plaintiff and all parties affected thereby . . . and the validity of such bonds, certificates or other obligations or of any taxes, assessments or revenues pledged for the payment thereof, or of the proceedings authorizing the issuance thereof, including any remedies provided for their collection, shall never be called in question in any court by any person or party.

Even though validation is supposed to finalize any questions at issue, the Final Judgment states in paragraph 25:

The judgment shall not serve to collaterally estop any person from challenging in a collateral proceeding the

(i) the specific project or projects to be acquired, constructed or erected by the Local Agencies,

(ii) validity of any Local Agency Loan Agreement

(iii) validity of any Local Agency Securities

(iv) revenues pledged for the payment of such Local Agency Loan Agreements or Local Agency Securities, or

(v) proceedings of any Local Agency authorizing such Local Agency Loan Agreement or Local Agency Securities (including, but not limited to Local Agency Security of the City of Orlando or a Local Agency Loan Agreement executed by the City of Orlando.)

(App.12, p.14)

This Court as well as the Circuit Court is without jurisdiction to validate bonds which do not identify a project, a revenue source or the local agency recipient which at the same time leaves the validity of the projects, revenue sources and other items open to collateral attack. Section 75.02, Florida Statutes gives the Court jurisdiction to determine a municipality's authority to incur bonded debt and the legality of all proceedings taken in connection therewith. Thus, there is no question yet at issue in this case. Since the City has not yet identified any of the variables normally present in bond issues and has left most of the issues subject to later review, it cannot be determined whether the bonds are in fact "revenue" bonds or a "debt" contemplated under section 75.02, Florida Statutes. Further, if issues as to the individual project, the loan agreement or security and the revenues pledged thereunder are considered collateral, as the City suggests, there would be no statutory mechanism for a collateral action to be filed later challenging these items in Court. See, McCoy Restaurants, Inc. v. City of Orlando, 392 So.2d 252 (Fla. 1980) (The validity of an

aviation authority's lease agreement leasing airport facilities to airlines was a collateral issue in a bond validation proceeding for construction of new facilities at the Orlando International Airport.) All matters taken in "connection therewith" and pertinent to the bonds at issue should be able to be reviewed in the validation proceeding itself so that validation takes on the certainty it was intended to under Section 75.09, Florida Statutes.

Apparently, even Judge Baker questioned what validation of bonds with this structure actually meant when he filed a Memorandum, referred to in the Final Judgment, explaining his decision in entering in a Final Judgment of Validation. See, (App.13, pp.15) (App.12).

POINT II

THE CITY OF ORLANDO, FLORIDA  
REVENUE BONDS IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO  
EXCEED \$500,000,000 DO NOT SERVE A  
PROPER MUNICIPAL PURPOSE AND ARE  
NOT AUTHORIZED BY LAW.

If the Court determines this issue is ripe for determination and finds jurisdiction proper, validation should be denied since the bonds do not serve a public purpose. Whether the bond proposal serves a valid public purpose is proper for the Court to review once jurisdiction is invoked.

The Court must determine if a public body has the authority to issue the proposed bonds and whether the purpose of the obligation is legal before a judgment of validation can be entered. State v. Panama City Beach, 529 So.2d 250, 251 (Fla. 1988); Taylor v. Lee County, 498 So.2d 424 (Fla. 1986); Wohl v. State, 480 So.2d 639 (Fla. 1985). This inquiry includes whether the issuing agency may legally expend the proceeds for the contemplated purpose. State v. Panama City Beach, supra, at 251; State v. Miami Beach Redevelopment Agency, 392 So.2d 875, 886 (Fla. 1980); State v. Suwannee County Development Authority, 122 So.2d 190 (Fla. 1960).

Municipalities have historically issued bonds for specific projects such as airports, expressways and housing. See, McCoy Restaurants, Inc., v. City of Orlando, supra. (Revenue bonds issued to finance construction and expansion of airport facilities); Section 348.753, Florida Statutes (creates Orlando-Orange County Expressway Authority); Pepin v. Division of Bond Finance, 493 So.2d 1013 (Fla. 1986) (bonds approved for

expressway expansion project); Section 159, Part IV, Florida Statutes (creates housing finance authorities and empowers them to issue bonds for financing construction of housing).

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