IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE STATE OF FLORIDA, and the several Property Owners, Taxpayers and Citizens of the City of Orlando, Florida, including nonresidents owning property or subject to taxation therein, and all others having or claiming any right, title or interest in property to be affected by the issuance of the bonds herein more particularly described or to be affected in any way thereby,

SID J. WHITE

JUN 12 1990

DOWN COLUMN COLUMN

CASE NO. 75,804 Cont.

Appeal from Case No. CI88-8819

Defendant/Appellant,

vs.

CITY OF ORLANDO, FLORIDA, a municipal corporation of the State of Florida,

Plaintiff/Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE
CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Contrary to the position taken by the Appellant, issuance of the Bonds will serve valid public purposes on two separate levels. The Appellee will receive several benefits as a result of issuing the Bonds as proposed. First, it will be able to gain access to certain financial markets and achieve certain economies of scale that would otherwise be unavailable to the Appellee or to other Local Agencies acting on their own. In addition, in testimony received in this cause, it was represented that the Appellee would be entitled to receive certain profits on the purchase of the debt obligations of governmental units (App. 8, pp. 49, 50, 56, 57). Such profits can be used only for such lawful capital projects as are authorized by law and approved by the City Council of the Appellee (App. 8, p. 57; App. 12, p. 8). In addition to the benefits accruing directly to the Appellee, the public interests of the local governmental borrowers will be served as well, as loans may be originated to finance <u>public projects</u> of the borrowers of the types presented to the court below (App. 12, p. 4; App. 7, p. 53).

Appellant challenges the lower tribunal's jurisdiction to validate the Bonds, on the theory that the case is not yet ripe for decision. However, this argument flies in the face of the fact that there are numerous steps to be followed prior to issuing bonds, and that validation is, of necessity, undertaken at a preliminary stage in such proceedings --- a fact which this Court has long recognized.

The procedures which must be followed prior to the origination of any loans under the proposed Bond-financed program (as spelled out in the proceedings of the Appellee, in the Final Judgment and in applicable law) are more than adequate to protect against the problems Appellant foresees with respect to pledging ad valorem tax revenues, the Appellee's borrowing from the pool, and the due process rights of taxpayers and borrowers. The validation of the Bonds does not obviate compliance with any additional requirements of law which may govern the pledge by a local borrower of a particular revenue source or its power to finance a particular project. Adequate remedies remain available to interested persons to contest the actual borrowings under the Appellee's financing It should be borne in mind that the Final Judgment program. specifically prohibits issuing any Bonds unless the Appellee reasonably expects the proceeds to be used within three years to fund a public project.

Appellant's argument that the Appellee should not be permitted to borrow from the pool is similarly lacking in merit. The operative documents contain specific lists of requirements which must be satisfied and items which must be submitted by each borrower, to all of which the Appellee is subject. By requiring deposit of the Bond proceeds with a trustee, Appellee sufficiently divests itself of control over the Bond proceeds to protect against any concerns of "self-dealing" or avoidance of applicable procedural requirements.

As discussed, <u>supra</u>, Appellant's mere contention that due process is denied by virtue of validation of the Bonds provides no basis for this Court to reverse the ruling of the court below. The validation does not foreclose any remedy otherwise available to interested parties, other than the right to challenge the power to issue the Bonds to make loans to governmental entities within the State, secured by payments received by the municipality from participating borrowers. Our system of open government, in which public participation is invited, provides more than ample protection of constitutional due process rights.

The ruling of the Circuit Court validating the Bonds proposed to be issued by the Appellee should be affirmed.

POINT I

THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT IT HAD JURISDICTION TO VALIDATE THE BONDS

Article V, §5(b), Fla. Const., and §75.02, Fla. Stat. confer jurisdiction on the Circuit Courts to conduct bond validation proceedings. The scope of judicial inquiry in bond validations is limited to determining whether the public body, here the City of Orlando, has the authority to issue bonds, whether the purpose of the bonds is legal, and whether the City has exercised the power in accordance with the requirements of law. Lodwick v. School District of Palm Beach County, Florida, 506 So. 2d 407 (Fla. 1987). Due to legislative recognition that the prompt resolution of issues in bond validation proceedings is necessary, the scope of a validation proceeding is limited to assure speedy disposition of the matter. State v. City of Miami, 103 So.2d 185 (Fla. 1958). Courts are to consider only the legal validity of the bonds, not the desirability of the bonds. State v. Sunrise Lakes Phase II Special Recreation District, 383 So.2d 632 (Fla. 1980).

Section 75.01, Fla. Stat., states:

Circuit courts have jurisdiction to determine the validation of bonds and certificates of indebtedness and all matters connected therewith.

Instruments sought to be validated need not be titled "bonds" or "certificates of indebtedness" in order to invoke the court's jurisdiction. Documents imposing a payment obligation on a governmental entity, whether bonds or other traditional debt

instruments or such less traditional matters as an interlocal agreement or other support documents, are sufficient to justify validation pursuant to Chapter 75. State v. School Board of Sarasota County, 15 F.L.W. 258 (Fla. April 26, 1990); State v. City of Daytona Beach, 431 So.2d 981 (Fla. 1983). The Appellee properly invoked the jurisdiction of the Circuit Court to determine the validation of the Bonds.

It was never intended that validation proceedings be used to decide any collateral issues. McCoy Restaurants, Inc. v. City of Orlando, 392 So.2d 252 (Fla. 1980). Indeed, validation orders do not preclude future collateral attacks. Glatstein v. City of Miami, 399 So.2d 1005 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981). In State v. Housing Finance Authority of Pinellas County, Florida, 506 So.2d 397 (Fla. 1987), this Court recognized that if public bodies were required to present detailed forms at validation proceedings, all needed flexibility for future planning would be lost.

The sole purpose of a validation proceeding is to determine whether the issuing entity has constitutional and statutory authority to issue the bonds in question and whether such authority has been exercised "in accordance with the spirit and intent of the law." McCoy Restaurants, Inc. v. City of Orlando, supra, at 253. The Court has stated that:

The object of the proceedings is to have finally adjudicated by the court in advance of their issuance whether or not the proposed obligations . . . have been validly authorized and may be issued in the form, containing the recitals, covenants, undertakings, pledges or limitations stipulated, described, or set up in the authorizing ordinance or resolution providing for same . . . and

to judicially determine the legal sufficiency of the proceedings constituting the <u>initiatory steps</u> for the issuance and sale of the particular obligation sought therein to be validated. <u>State v. Citrus County</u>, 157 So. 4 at 5 (Fla. 1934) (emphasis added).

That some steps remain to be taken after validation has thus been acknowledged by this Court's long-standing recognition that validation proceedings review the "initiatory steps" for the issuance and sale of bonds (Id.). Similarly, this Court has long recognized that not all aspects of a financing will necessarily be before the validating court, but that certain "recitals, covenants, undertakings, pledges or limitations" may be "stipulated, described or set up in" the ordinance or resolution authorizing the issuance of Appellant's argument that the instant case is not bonds (Id.). yet ripe for adjudication is ill-founded. The proceedings to validate the Bonds should not be confused with the actions, yet to be taken, authorizing the underlying loan agreements or Local Agency Securities. It should be borne in mind that the execution by the borrowers of the loan agreements or their issuance of the Local Agency Securities must follow established procedures which provide ample opportunity for presentation of arguments opposition thereto.

In <u>McCoy Restaurants</u>, <u>Inc. v. City of Orlando</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Court held that a validation proceeding was not the proper forum for determining the legality of a proposed form of lease. The lease in <u>McCoy Restaurants</u> was tantamount to the Local Agency Loan Agreements or Local Agency Securities in the instant case, as both provide the very source of revenues for paying the bonds. This

Court has upheld the principle of McCoy Restaurants, in Taylor v.

Lee County, 498 So.2d 424 (Fla. 1986). In Taylor, the Court held
that a county's power to impose tolls on previously toll-free roads
and bridges could not be adjudicated in a bond validation
proceeding,

although the generation of revenues to fund this bond issue depends on the County's authority to impose tolls. 498 So.2d at 425.

To require the validating court to adjudicate the validity of all supporting documents would be a substantial departure from long-established law in this State. Such an approach could involve the adjudication of agreements with parties not required to be before the court in such a proceeding, and over whom the court lacks in personam jurisdiction (i.e., bond insurers or banks providing letters of credit in a credit enhanced transaction; lessees of bond-financed rental housing projects; mortgagors of bond-financed single-family residences).

Appellant questions the authority of the lower court to reserve, for future proceedings, the right to collaterally attack the underlying projects, loan agreements, Local Agency Securities, revenues pledged by the borrowers, and the Local Agency proceedings authorizing the Local Agency Loan Agreements or Local Agency Securities. Such reservation is merely a restatement of existing law on the subject, as discussed <u>supra</u>, and merely reinforces the existing rights of Appellant and others to protest and be heard at the appropriate time.

POINT II

THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT THE BONDS PROPOSED TO BE ISSUED WILL SERVE A VALID PUBLIC PURPOSE

Determining whether a proposed action serves a valid public purpose is, in the first instance, a legislative determination to be made by the appropriate elected officials. It is the role of the elected officials of the respective borrowers to determine, at public meetings conducted in accordance with Florida's "sunshine law" (§286.011, Fla. Stat.) and other applicable law whether their proposed projects serve a valid public purpose. In order to reverse the validation judgment on the ground that the Bonds do not serve a public purpose, the Court must find that the Appellee's finding of a valid public purpose constitutes an abuse of its discretion, is clearly erroneous or is beyond legislative authority. State v. Housing Finance Authority, 376 So.2d 1158 (Fla. 1979); Getzen v. Sumter County, 103 So. 104 (Fla. 1925). See also, <u>Jackson Lumber Co. v. Walton County</u>, 116 So. 771 at 787 (Fla. 1928), Lewis v. Leon County, 107 So. 147 at 159 (Fla. 1926).

Appellee proposes to issue the Bonds for either the purpose of (i) investing the proceeds at a profit, or (ii) establishing a "pool" of funds to make loans to cities and counties or to invest in their debt obligations, either of which is a proper municipal purpose within itself. Appellee need only show that it serves one such purpose. However, the public purpose of this proposed issue is further bolstered by the restriction that the Appellee has

determined to limit itself to simultaneously serving both such purposes. It is imperative to a proper understanding of the issues presently before the Court that the proceedings of the Appellee incident to issuance of the Bonds not be confused with the proceedings of the local governments authorizing specific loans or obligations which will be made or purchased with proceeds of the Bonds.

The City of Orlando has the authority to issue "revenue bonds" pursuant to the authority of §166.111, Fla. Stat., which provides:

Authority to borrow. -- The governing body of every municipality may borrow money, contract loans, and issue bonds as defined in s. 166.101 from time to time to finance the undertaking of any capital or other project for the purposes permitted by the State Constitution and may pledge the funds, credit, property, and taxing power of the municipality for the payment of such debts and bonds. (Emphasis supplied)

Under the Constitution of the State and Florida Statutes, the City of Orlando, as a municipality, has all powers exercisable by the State, if not expressly prohibited by the Constitution or Statutes.

Article VIII, §2(b) of the Florida Constitution provides:

(b) POWERS. Municipalities shall have governmental, corporate and proprietary powers to enable them to conduct municipal government, perform municipal functions and render municipal services, and may exercise any power for municipal purposes except as otherwise provided by law. Each municipal legislative body shall be elective. (Emphasis Supplied)

Section 166.021(2) states that a "municipal purpose" means any activity or power which may be exercised by the State or its political subdivisions.

Furthermore, §166.021(3) and (4) provides:

- (3) The Legislature recognizes that pursuant to the grant of power set forth in s. 2(b), Art. VIII of the State Constitution, the legislative body of each municipality has the power to enact legislation concerning any subject matter upon which the state Legislature may act, except:
 - (a) The subjects of annexation, merger, and exercise of extraterritorial power, which require general or special law pursuant to s. 2(c), Art. VIII of the State Constitution;
 - (b) Any subject expressly prohibited by the constitution;
 - (c) Any subject expressly preempted to state or county government by the constitution or by general law; and
 - (d) Any subject preempted to a county pursuant to a county charter adopted under the authority of ss. 1(g), 3, and 6(e), Art. VIII of the State Constitution.
- (4) The provisions of this section shall be so construed as to secure for municipalities the broad exercise of home rule powers granted by the constitution. It is the further intent of the Legislature to extend to municipalities the exercise of powers for municipal governmental, corporate, or proprietary purposes not expressly prohibited by the constitution, general or special law, or county charter and to remove any limitations, judicially imposed or otherwise, on the exercise of home rule powers other than those so expressly prohibited. . . (Emphasis Supplied)

This is not a case of first impression in the State of Florida. Florida case law is replete with court decisions validating similar programs. [See, e.g., City of Tampa v. State,

Case No. 88-7214 (Fla. 13th Cir. Ct. 1988); City of Gulf Breeze v. State, Case No. 85-C-1098 (Fla. 1st Cir. 1985); Escambia County v. State, Case No. 84-2691-CA-01 (Fla. 1st Cir. Ct. 1984)]. In State v. City of Panama City Beach, 529 So.2d 250 (Fla. 1988), this Court was faced with a virtually identical situation. The City of Panama City Beach had sought validation of \$300,000,000 in investment revenue bonds, the proceeds of which were to be used to purchase an investment contract with a quaranteed rate of return. The City of Panama City Beach proposed to use a portion of the investment earnings derived from the investment contract for valid municipal purposes. The principal invested in such contract, together with the required amount of earnings thereon, were to be pledged as security for such bonds. In particular, the investment contract constituted the sole source of the repayment of those bonds. This Court upheld the validity of such bonds, recognizing that the powers of Florida municipalities are very broad.

In rendering its decision, the Court quoted <u>State of Florida</u>

<u>v. City of Sunrise</u>, 354 So.2d 1207 (Fla. 1978), where it had

previously upheld the validity of advance refunding bonds:

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